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APPELLANT'S NOTICE OF APPEAL
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Pursuant .to RC 119.12, notice is hereby given that Appellant, l 4 k k A A

.

,

Lonergan, MD, appeals the order of the State Medical Board dated December 14,
2005, and mailed December 16, 2005, (copy attached as Exhibit A.)
,

The Medical

Board order is not supported by the necessary quantum of reliable, probative and
substantial evidence nor is it in accordance with law.
Respectfully submitted,

KEVIN P. BYERS CO., L.P.A.

Kevin P. dyers 0040253
Fifth Third Center
21 East State Street, Suite 220
Columbus, Ohio 43215
614.228.6283 Fax 228.6425
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Certificate of Service
I certify that the original of the foregoing document was hand filed this 3rdday of
...

. January, 2006, at the State Medical Board, 77 South High Street, 17th Floor, Columbus,

Ohio 4321.5-0315 with a copy filed this same date in the Court of Common Pleas of
Franklin County in accord with RC 119.12 with a courtesy copy mailed to the Ofice of
Attorney General Jim Petro, Health & Human Services Section, 30 East Broad Street, 26th
Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-3426.
I

Kevin P. B*rs
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EVIDENCE EXAMINED
I.

Testimony Heard
No witnesses were presented.

II.

Exhibits Examined
A.

B.

Presented by the State
1.

State’s Exhibits 1A through 1R: Procedural exhibits. [Note: State’s Exhibit 1R,
which is a copy of the Respondent’s June 3, 2005, motion for continuance of the
June 22, 2005, hearing, was admitted to the record by the Hearing Examiner
post-hearing.]

2.

State’s Exhibit 2: Certified copy of an indictment filed against Dr. Lonergan in
the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio in United
States v. Lonergan, Case No. 1:04CR45, for violation of 18 U.S.C. Sections
1341 (Mail Fraud), and 1347 (Health Care Fraud). [Note: The date of filing of
this document is illegible.] [Further note: Several portions of this document
that are not relevant to this matter were redacted prior to admission of this
exhibit to the record.]

3.

State’s Exhibit 3: Certified copy of a plea agreement filed in United States v.
Lonergan, Case Nos. 1:03CR384 and 1:04CR45, signed on May 26, 2004.

4.

State’s Exhibit 4: Certified copy of an indictment filed against Dr. Lonergan on
October 7, 2003, in United States v. Lonergan, Case No. 1:03CR384, for
violation of 26 U.S.C. Sections 7201 and 7206(1) (tax violations).

5.

State’s Exhibit 5: Certified copy of a Judgment Entry filed on September 20,
2004, in United States v. Lonergan, Case No. 1:03CR384.

6.

State’s Exhibit 6: Certified copy of a Judgment Entry filed on September 20,
2004, in United States v. Lonergan, Case No. 1:04CR45.

Presented by the Respondent
1.

Respondent’s Exhibit A: Copy of a letter received from Dr. Lonergan by Board
staff on July 26, 2004.

2.

Respondent’s Exhibit B: Copies of letters of support written on behalf of
Dr. Lonergan. [Note: This exhibit has been sealed to protect patient
confidentiality.]
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PROCEDURAL MATTERS
1.

This matter had originally been assigned to Hearing Examiner Siobhan R. Clovis, Esq., and
the hearing originally convened on November 16, 2004. At that time, Dr. Lonergan’s son,
Robert Connor Lonergan, who is not an attorney, appeared on Dr. Lonergan’s behalf.
Mr. Lonergan advised, among other things, that his father was incarcerated and unable to
appear for hearing, and asked for additional time to allow his father to obtain
representation. The State agreed to a brief continuance, and the matter was set for further
hearing at a later date. No substantive evidence was presented on November 16, 2004.
Shortly thereafter, Hearing Examiner Clovis left the Board’s employ. Hearing Examiner
R. Gregory Porter was assigned to preside over this matter in Ms. Clovis’ stead. (See
Hearing Transcript Volume I; State’s Exhibit 1I)

2.

In December 2004, Kevin P. Byers, Esq. entered his appearance as Dr. Lonergan’s counsel.
(See State’s Exhibits 1J and 1K)

3.

On or about June 15, 2005, Respondent’s Notice of Hearing Intentions was filed on behalf
of Dr. Lonergan. That document states,
Respondent’s June 3, 2005, motion for continuance to permit Respondent’s
personal attendance and participation in the hearing was denied by entry of
June 14, 2005. The State is hereby notified that Respondent shall have no
representative in attendance at the June 22, 2005, hearing although [Mr.
Byers] remains counsel of record and should continue to be served with all
notices, pleadings, orders, entries, decisions, and reports.
(State’s Exhibit 1Q)

4.

A second day of hearing took place on June 22, 2005. The hearing record in this matter
was held open until June 29, 2005, in order to give the State an opportunity to provide a
redacted copy of State’s Exhibit 2. This document was received in a timely manner, and
hearing record closed on June 29, 2005. (Hearing Transcript Volume II [Tr. II] at 13)

5.

Prior to the June 22, 2005, hearing, Dr. Lonergan had submitted his written defense to the
Board. During hearing, the Hearing Examiner was reluctant to admit Dr. Lonergan’s
written defense to the record without a request from or, at the very least, the permission of
Dr. Lonergan’s counsel, who was not present during the hearing. Accordingly, at the close
of the January 22, 2005, hearing, Dr. Lonergan’s written defense was held as proffered
material. (See Hearing Transcript Volume II at 11-12) Subsequently, with the approval of
Dr. Lonergan’s counsel and without objection by the State, the hearing record briefly
reopened on November 7, 2005, and Dr. Lonergan’s written defense was admitted to the
record as Respondent’s Exhibits A and B.

Report and Recommendation
In the Matter of John Michael Lonergan, M.D.
Page 4

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
All exhibits and transcripts of testimony, even if not specifically mentioned, were thoroughly
reviewed and considered by the Hearing Examiner prior to preparing this Report and
Recommendation.
1.

In his written defense, John Michael Lonergan, M.D., said that he has worked in the field of
health care since 1970, and spent the majority of that time practicing “in a hospital based
protocol driven practice of medicine.” Dr. Lonergan further stated that, in 1998, he had had
a dispute with supervisory staff at the former Columbus [Ohio] Community Hospital where
he had worked in the Emergency Department. According to Dr. Lonergan, the dispute
concerned an issue that Dr. Lonergan believed would have caused a breach of his duties as a
physician and that he therefore had left that institution’s employ. Subsequently,
Dr. Lonergan started a practice in North Royalton, Ohio, called House Calls Unlimited.
Dr. Lonergan was engaged in that practice during the period that the events leading to this
hearing took place. (State’s Exhibit [St. Ex.] 2 at 1; Respondent’s Exhibit [Resp. Ex.] A)

2.

In October 2003, in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, a grand
jury returned an indictment against Dr. Lonergan in United States v. Lonergan, Case No.
1:03CR-384. The indictment charged Dr. Lonergan with one felony count of Income Tax
Evasion in violation of 26 U.S.C. Section 7210, and five felony counts of Filing False Income
Tax Returns in violation of 26 U.S.C. Section 7206(1). (St. Ex. 4)

3.

In 2004, a grand jury returned a second indictment against Dr. Lonergan in United States v.
Lonergan, Case No. 1:04CR-45. The second indictment charged him with one felony
count of Mail Fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. Section 1341, and one felony count of Health
Care Fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. Section 1347. (St. Ex. 2)

4.

On May 26, 2004, Dr. Lonergan entered into a plea agreement in which he agreed to plead
guilty to the eight felony counts set forth in the two indictments. The plea agreement also
set forth stipulations of fact, including those summarized below:
•

In an effort to conceal his true income from the IRS, Dr. Lonergan and another
individual established a corporation called Coleman Medical Corporation [CMC] in
1995, which Dr. Lonergan controlled and used to conceal assets and receipt of
income during the years 1995 through 1997. (St. Ex. 3, Paragraph 12e)

•

As of December 1996, Dr. Lonergan owed approximately $422,089.00 in unpaid
federal income tax dating from 1980 through 1993. In December 1996, Dr. Lonergan
entered an agreement with the Internal Revenue Service [IRS] in compromise of his
tax liability, based on income information provided by Dr. Lonergan for 1995 and
1996. However, Dr. Lonergan knowingly understated his income for those two years.

Report and Recommendation
In the Matter of John Michael Lonergan, M.D.
Page 5
Then, for the years 1997 through 2000, Dr. Lonergan knowingly understated his
income, thereby paying less than required under the compromise agreement, and
resulting in a failure to pay approximately $102,487.00 owed under the agreement.
(St. Ex. 3, Paragraphs 12b-12d, 12g)
•

In a further effort to conceal his true income from the IRS, Dr. Lonergan caused
approximately $155,000.00 of his income to be falsely reported as income received by
two individuals from CMC. Dr. Lonergan caused personal tax returns to be filed for
these individuals, with one of them listing $80,000 as income from CMC in 1996, and
the other listing $75,000.00 as income from CMC for 1997. (St. Ex. 3, Paragraph 12f)

•

Dr. Lonergan filed false tax returns for the years 1996 through 2000, resulting in an
understatement of taxes due of approximately $116,387.00. (St. Ex. 3, Paragraph 13)

•

During the years 1999 through 2001, Dr. Lonergan engaged in a scheme to defraud the
Medicare and Medicaid programs by billing for services that either were not rendered
or were not eligible for payment. Dr. Lonergan billed for: services exceeding 24 hours
in a single day; “services allegedly provided to recipients in their private residences,
when in fact such recipients resided in group homes”; and “services allegedly provided
by [Dr. Lonergan], when in fact such services, if provided at all, were provided by an
unlicensed individual.” (St. Ex. 3, Paragraph 14b)

(St. Ex. 3 at 7-9)
5.

On August 12, 2004, the court found Dr. Lonergan guilty of the offenses addressed in the plea
agreement and imposed sentence in both cases. In Case No. 1:03CR-384, the court ordered
imprisonment of 24 months, one year of post-release probation, payment of a special
assessment of $600.00, and restitution of $1,087.00. The court also ordered that Dr. Lonergan
participate in mental health treatment while in prison. In Case No. 1:04CR-45, the court
ordered 24 months of imprisonment to run concurrently with the term imposed in Case No.
1:03CR-384, payment of a special assessment of $200.00, restitution of $339,056.00, and
post-release conditions. (St. Exs. 5 and 6)

6.

As of June 3, 2005, Dr. Lonergan remained incarcerated. (St. Exs. 1P and 1R)

7.

In his written defense, Dr. Lonergan stated that, after he had left his position in the
Emergency Department at Columbus Community Hospital, he had been advised to start his
own “housecalls business” by an individual “who purported to be an ‘expert’ in business and
medical billing.” This same individual ran a company that did medical billing. Dr. Lonergan
started the housecalls business, and hired that individual’s company to do his medical billing.
However, Dr. Lonergan stated that that individual had “proved to be not only incompetent,
but also nefarious and untrustworthy specifically in the area of medical billing.” Moreover,
Dr. Lonergan stated that, unbeknownst to Dr. Lonergan, that individual’s billing company
had been indicted for Medicare Fraud. Dr. Lonergan stated that he had received a lot of bad
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advice from that individual and his company. Among other things, Dr. Lonergan stated that
they had advised him that a “group home” is considered a private residence for purposes of
Medicare billing, which Dr. Lonergan has since learned is not true. Nevertheless,
Dr. Lonergan stated that the charge of Health Care Fraud resulted because he had believed
the advice he was given. (Resp. Ex. A)
Further, Dr. Lonergan stated that in March 2002 the government had searched his residence
and seized his medical records. Dr. Lonergan also stated that, since that time, he has not
had access to his medical records. Moreover, Dr. Lonergan stated that those records would
demonstrate that he had not billed for procedures that he did not perform. (Resp. Ex. A)
In addition, Dr. Lonergan wrote that the business aspect of medical practice had never
appealed to him. Dr. Lonergan stated, “I did check the wrong boxes on the billing form I
used, in fact I did not even have the code for the Group Home version of nursing home on
the form I was given.” Dr. Lonergan acknowledged that he had been ultimately
responsible for the accuracy of the forms that had been submitted. He added, “The fact that
I’m obviously incompetent in terms of the business of medicine is no excuse[]”; however,
he stated that he “never intentionally broke any laws or did anything illegal[.]”
(Resp. Ex. A)
Moreover, Dr. Lonergan admitted that he had used the services of a physician who was not
licensed to practice medicine in Ohio. Dr. Lonergan stated that this physician had had one
year of training at Mount Sinai Hospital in Cleveland, Ohio, and been “a well published
department chairman in Russia.” Dr. Lonergan further stated that he had closely
supervised everything that this individual had done, and that “[a]t no time was he left on
his own.” Dr. Lonergan explained, “No, he did not have an Ohio license, but he was a
physician who already had one year of training in an approved training program in an
American Hospital that I was supervising as I have done hundreds of times with other
medical students, nurses, paramedics, interns, residents, and fellows.” (Resp. Ex. A)
In addition to the issue of health care fraud, Dr. Lonergan stated that he had been convicted
of tax-related violations. Dr. Lonergan wrote that, because his business was deemed
fraudulent, the IRS had disallowed the related deductions he had claimed over the years.
Dr. Lonergan expressed exasperation at the fact that all of the money that he had spent on
that practice had been disallowed as a legitimate business deduction. Moreover,
Dr. Lonergan stated that, because he had received checks in the mail from Medicare, he
was also deemed guilty of Mail Fraud. (Resp. Ex. A)
With regard to CMC, Dr. Lonergan stated that he had entered into that arrangement in order
to give some of his earnings to a friend who was in “dire financial straits,” and that
Dr. Lonergan had had no control over the money that he had paid into that corporation.
However, Dr. Lonergan stated that his belief at that time that the arrangement had been legal
was the result of “bipolar wishful thinking.” Moreover, Dr. Lonergan stated, “Looking back
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with my now properly medicated 20/20 hindsight, it is embarrassing that an otherwise very
moral and moderately intelligent person could reach those conclusions.” (Resp. Ex. A)
In conclusion, Dr. Lonergan stated,
[T]hose that do know me and know the pedestrian lifestyle I have lived and
that I have been in debt for the last more than fifteen years know that I never
intended to break the law, any law. I do not gamble. I do not have expensive
hobbies. I take care of my family, my patients, my church, and my debts with
my income. I also never intended to do any kind of scheme or somehow
include the profit motive in my reasons for caring for my patients. If I wanted
purely monetary awards for my time, I would’ve immediately gone into
Pediatric Anesthesiology as soon as I became Board Certified in
Anesthesiology as well as Pediatrics in late 1997. What I did in having a
housecalls business was never about the bottom line. It was about giving the
best and most care to the most people. Unfortunately without the structure of
protocol driven hospital based medicine and or the medication I am now
taking, with my bipolar biochemistry, something had to give, and since I did
protocol based medical care what I ignored was the business part of medical
care, and that is why I am here * * *. There is a silver lining behind this
blackest cloud that my family, my patients, and I ever experienced and that is
that I finally got the appropriate psychiatric help for myself. I have been on
the appropriate pharmacologic therapy for approximately five months, and my
children, my sisters and whole family tell me how different I am. From my
standpoint, though this is a horrific nightmare and I would not wish what has
happened to me on my worst enemy, but it is good to be slowed down and to
do things one at a time. All I want to do now is to go home and be a good
father to my children, and be a good doctor for the rest of my career. This
normalcy is truly a godsend. At the risk of monotonous repetition, I never
intended to break the law. My whole life stands in sharp contradistinction to
doing anything dishonorable, unethical, or illegal. I haven’t had a traffic
citation in the last six years. If you can, please help me to get back to taking
quality care of my treasured patients in Ohio. I will do whatever you ask and
cooperate in any way that I can. If there is anything else that is needed of me,
you have but to ask and if I am able I will provide it. As I have said to tens of
thousands of patients in my career, “how can I help you?”
(Resp. Ex. A)
8.

Dr. Lonergan presented a number of letters of support written by patients, relatives, and
friends. These letters describe Dr. Lonergan as a compassionate and dedicated physician.
(Resp. Ex. B). Note that the State did not have an opportunity to cross-examine the authors
of those letters.

